
 

West Devon Development 

Management and Licensing 

Committee 
 

Title: Agenda 

Date: Tuesday, 19th April, 2022 

Time: 10.00 am 

Venue: Chamber - Kilworthy Park 

Full Members: Chairman Cllr Yelland 

 Vice Chairman Cllr Pearce 

 Members: Cllr Leech 
Cllr Mott 
Cllr Moyse 
Cllr Ratcliffe 
 

Cllr Renders 
Cllr Southcott 
Cllr Spettigue 
Cllr Vachon 
 

Interests – 
Declaration and 
Restriction on 
Participation: 

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's 
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any 
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for 
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest. 

Committee 
administrator: 

Kathy Hoare Senior Case Manager - Democratic Services 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 

  Page No 

 

1.   Apologies for Absence  
 

 

2.   Declarations of Interest  

 In accordance with the Code of Conduct, Members are invited to 
declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, Other Registerable 
Interests and Non-Registerable Interests including the nature and 
extent of such interests they may have in any items to be 
considered at this meeting; 
 

 

3.   Items Requiring Urgent Attention  

 To consider those items which, in the opinion of the Chairman, 
should be considered by the Meeting as matters of urgency (if 
any).   
 

 

4.   Confirmation of Minutes 1 - 6 

 Meeting held on 1 March 2022 
 

 

5.   Planning Applications  

 To see Letters of Representation and further supplementary  
information relating to any of the planning applications on the  
agenda, please select the following link and enter the relevant  
Reference number: http://westdevon.gov.uk/searchlanding   
 
 
WARD NAME Okehampton North  
APPLICATION NUMBER   1887/21/FUL        
LOCATION "Land at Parcel 4B", 

East of Crediton Road, 
Okehampton 

DEVELOPMENT New vehicular access 
from Crediton Road and 
associated footway 

 
 
 
WARD NAME Exbourne  
APPLICATION NUMBER   2927/21/FUL        
LOCATION "Land Adjacent To 

Hayfield Road", Road 
From Townsend Farm 
To Waterhouse Farm 
Lane, Exbourne, Devon  

DEVELOPMENT Change of use of land 
and conversion of 
building to provide 

 

http://westdevon.gov.uk/searchlanding


 
 

  Page No 
 

holiday accommodation 
 
 
 
 
 
WARD NAME Okehampton South  
APPLICATION NUMBER   1861/21/CAC        
LOCATION "The Old Mill", Mill 

Road, Okehampton 
DEVELOPMENT READVERTISEMENT 

(Revised plans 
received) Conservation 
area consent for 
demolition of redundant 
stone warehouse 
buildings 

 
 
 

(a)   1887/21/FUL 
 

7 - 16 

(b)   2927/21/FUL 
 

17 - 24 

(c)   1861/21/CAC 
 

25 - 42 

6.   Planning Appeals Update  
 

43 - 44 

7.   Update on Undetermined Major Applications  
 

45 - 46 



This page is intentionally left blank



Minutes of a meeting of the WEST DEVON DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT & 
LICENSING COMMITTEE held on TUESDAY the 1st day of March 2022 at 10.00am 
in the COUNCIL CHAMBER, KILWORTHY PARK 
 
 

Present: Cllr J Yelland – Chairman 
                      Cllr T Pearce –Vice Chairman  
         
 Cllr R Cheadle     Cllr T Leech 
           Cllr N Heyworth                  Cllr C Mott    
           Cllr D Moyse                       Cllr B Ratcliffe                                                     
           Cllr T Southcott   Cllr P Vachon  
            
            
Head of Development Management (PW) 
Planning Case Officers (CMB and JH) 
Monitoring Officer (DF) 
Democratic Services Officer (KH)    

 
 
*DM&L.31     APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
                     There were apologies for absence from Cllr M Renders for whom Cllr 
                      R Cheadle was substituting and Cllr C Mott for whom Cllr N Heyworth  
                      was substituting.                          . 
                      
 
*DM&L.32 DECLARATION OF INTEREST 

Cllr Cheadle declared an interest in application 2530/21/FUL by virtue 
of being the Chairman of Buckland Monachorum Parish Council 
Planning Committee and therefore there was a real possibility that he 
might be seen to be biased or to have pre-determined the application. 
He remained in the room for this application but did not take part in the 
debate or vote. He was a registered speaker in his capacity as Ward 
Member. 
 

  
*DM&L.33 URGENT BUSINESS 
                      There was no urgent business brought forward to this meeting. 
 
 
*DM&L.34 CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES 

The Minutes of the Development Management and Licensing 
Committee Meeting held on 12th December 2021 were confirmed as a 
correct record. 

 
*DM&L.35 PLANNING, LISTED BUILDING, TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 

AND ENFORCEMENT REPORTS 
                     The Committee proceeded to consider the report that had been 

prepared by the relevant Development Management Specialists on 
each of the following Applications and considered also the comments 
of the Town and Parish Councils together with other representations 
received, which were listed within the presented agenda report and 
summarised below: 

        
(a) Application No: 0811/21/FUL      Ward: Buckland Monachorum 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



 
Site Address: Axtown Lodge, Green Lane, Yelverton 
 
Development: Proposed single-story dwelling with associated 
landscaping, including provision of Devon bank and tree planting. 
 
                         

RECOMMENDATION: Refusal  
 
Reasons for refusal: 

1. The proposed development is located in the countryside, outside of any 
defined settlement, without sufficient essential justification or access to basic 
services and facilities, contrary to Policies SPT1, SPT2, TTV1 and TTV26 of 
the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan and paragraphs 7, 8, 
79 and 80 of the NPPF 2021. 

 
2. The proposed dwelling would lead to a change in character to the site, 

harmful to the rural landscape within which it sits, contrary to policy DEV23 
of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan and para’s 174 of 
the NPPF 2021 

 
3. The proposal for a 3 / 4 bedroom dwelling fails to meet the local housing 

needs and that of the District for smaller dwellings and for those with specific 
needs as outlined in Policy DEV8 of the Plymouth and South West Devon 
Joint Local Plan and para. 78 of the NPPF 2021. 
 

4. The proposal does not provide sufficient carbon reduction measures, in line 
with the energy hierarchy and contrary to policy DEV32 of the Plymouth and 
South West Devon Joint Local Plan, and para. 154 (b) of the NPPF 2021.  

 
5. The proposal to introduce a new dwelling in this location which lies within the 

Zone of Influence of the Tamar Estuaries SAC, with no mitigation proposed, 
creates the potential for harm to the integrity of the European site contrary to 
policy DEV26 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan and 
para. 174 of the NPPF 2021.  

                       
                      Speakers who addressed the Committee on the application were: 

 
                      Objector:  Mr Andrew Pett 
                      Supporter: Mr Mark Evans 
                      West Devon Borough Council Ward Member: Cllr R Cheadle 
 
                      Mr Pett spoke against the application. In doing so, he referred to  
                      previous planning inspectors’ decisions on this site and an adjoining 
                      site. He referred to their conclusions highlighting the unacceptable  
                      impact on landscape and AONB despite the appeal developments 
                      including extensive landscaping proposals. 
  
                      Mr Mark Evans, agent for the applicant, spoke in support of the 
                      application citing the Council’s recently declared housing emergency. 
                      He said that the proposal had followed the pre-application advice.  
                      Landscaping scheme had been agreed with officers as preserving 
                      and enhancing the AONB.  He drew the Committee’s attention to the 
                      Council’s Supplementary Planning Document and in particular that a  
                      three-bed dwelling with a study was considered to be a three-bed 

Page 2



                      dwelling for the purpose of Policy Dev8. 
  
                      Cllr Cheadle spoke as Ward Member and as Chairman of the Buckland 
                      Monachorum Parish Council Planning Committee. 
 
                      The Head of Development Management agreed with Mr Evans on the 
                      view that the proposal was for a three-bed dwelling and proposed that  
                      reason 3 was withdrawn as it would not be sustainable at appeal in  
                      view of the guidance in the Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
                      During the following debate a member spoke about his concerns of how 
                      the proposed development was down a green lane and extending the  
                      urbanisation of a country lane. Another member commended the 
                      design of the dwelling but nevertheless could not see how it preserved  
                      or enhanced the AONB. 

 
                      After discussion and debate it was proposed and seconded and  
                      
                      Resolved that: the application be refused for the reasons set out  
                      In the report with the removal of condition number 3. 
 
                       

 
(b) Application No:2530/21 /FUL  Ward: Bere Ferrers 

 
Site Address: Harling Farm, Bere Alston 
 
Development: READVERTISEMENT (Updated advert reason) 
Erection of indoor equestrian arena (revised Location Plan 
received) 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Conditional Approval 
 
Conditions: (list not in full) 
 
 Time  
 Approved drawings  
 Materials 
 Landscaping 
 House of operation/max no. users 
 Archaeology 
 Ecology 
 Highways 
 Drainage 
 Sustainable construction 
 Public right of way 

 
                           Pre-commencement Conditions: (lit not in full) 

 Ecology – Lighting 
 Ecology -  LEMP  
 Ecology - CEMP 

. 
Speakers who addressed the Committee on the Application were:  

Page 3



 
 

Supporter: Mrs Nicola Quick  
Bere Ferrers Parish Council: Cllr Brian Lamb 
West Devon Borough Council Ward Member – Cllr Peter Crozier 
 
In response to Member questions the Planning Officer responded: 
 
 Why the visual impact report wasn’t included. The Planning 

Officer explained that having gone on site and seen how 
significantly the ground levels would change the building it 
would not have an impact on the landscape. The new 
proposed hedgebanks would enhancement the 
area/landscape. 

 Impact of solar panel reflection across on the landscape 
would be mitigated as would be built of non reflective 
material. 
 

                             Mrs Nicola Quick, agent for the applicant, spoke in support of the  
                             application. She cited the use of the arena for disabled riders as 
                             well as enhancing existing local facilities for riders. The arena  
                             would be cut into the ground and soil excavated would be  
                             retained onsite for use in new hedges.  
  
                             Cllr Brian Lamb, spoke as a Bere Ferrers Parish Councillor stating 
                             that the Parsh Council were unanamous in their support of the  
                             application. He cited Bere Ferrers as being an isolated peninsula 
                             with few recreational facilities and stated there were over 300  
                             horses kept in the parish.  
 
                             Cllr Peter Crozier spoke as Ward Member for Bere Ferrers. 

 
                             In response to a Members request to impose a condition should             
                             the application be approved, to remove the building if it was not  
                             being used for the purpose proposed in the report, the Monitoring 
                             Officer advised that such a condition would not meet the tests for              
                             a valid planning condition and therefore the Committee should not 
                             impose such a condition. 
 
                             During the following debate a member commended the application 
                             stating is would be safer for riders to use the facilities that riding 
                             the narrow lanes in the vicinity. Another member voiced  
                             concerns over the way the integrity of the AONB was being eroded. 
                             The provision of a disabled riding faciltiy and the opportunity to 
                             allow a farm to diversify was given as a reason another Member  
                             supported the application. 
                              
                            After discussion and debate it was proposed, seconded and  

 
RESOLVED that: the Application be approved subject to the 
conditions set out in the Report. 
 
 
 

 Page 4



 *DM&L.36 PLANNING APPEALS UPDATE 
The Head of Development Management updated the Members on the 
recently determined planning appeals.  In so doing, he made particular 
reference to: 3960/20/TPO which was dismissed at appeal.  

 
 
 

*DM&L.37  UPDATE ON UNDETERMINED MAJOR APPLICATIONS 
                   The Head of Planning took Members through the undetermined Major 

applications. The Monitoring Officer said he would give an update on the 
S106 on Plymouth Road application once he has heard from the 
Solicitors acting on behalf on the Council. 
 
 

  
(The Meeting terminated at 11.40am) 

 
______________________ 

Chairman 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATION REPORT  
 
Case Officer:   Anna Henderson-Smith                  Parish:  Okehampton Hamlets   Ward:  
Okehampton North 
 
Application No:  1887/21/FUL 
 

 

Agent/Applicant: 
Mr Neil Mantell - LRM Planning Ltd 
22 Cathedral Road 
Cardiff 
CF11 9LJ 

 

Applicant: 
Barratt Homes (Exeter) Ltd 
Vanguard House 
Matford Business Park, Exeter 
EX2 8HL 
 

Site Address:    Land at Parcel 4B, East of Crediton Road, Okehampton 

 
 
Development:  New vehicular access from Crediton Road and associated footway 
 
Reason for call in: Called in by ward member Cllr Tony Leech - ‘On balance, I think that 
this should be fully discussed by the full Planning Committee, to make sure that we make 
the right decision here. So, my reasons for calling it in are on the lack of a fully agreed 
drainage design, that if not in place could cause a flood risk, and the loss and visual and 
cumulative impact of the removal of the hedges and trees, which are of a high amenity 
value, would affect the ecology and the landscape.’ 
 

Recommendation:  
 
Conditional Approval 
 
Conditions: 

1. Standard Time limit 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5a



2. Not to commence until such time as the RM for parcel 4b has been approved 
3. Adherence to plans 
4. Tree protection plan adherence 
5. Drainage condition 
6. Highways splay construction  
7. Bird nesting season hedgerow removal timing 
8. NE License 
9. Adherence to the ecological mitigation report 
10. Biodiversity enhancement to be achieved within the wider 4b parcel Reserved Matters proposal 
11. Landscaping scheme 

 
Key issues for consideration: 
Principle / Sustainable Development 
Design, Visual Impacts  
Neighbouring Amenity 
Highways / Access 
Flooding / Drainage 
Ecology / Biodiversity 
Other matters. 
 
 
Site Description: 
The site forms part of a housing allocation within the Joint Local Plan under policy TTV14 ‘ 
East of Okehampton’ which designates the wider allocation site to accommodate 775 new 
dwellings in distinctive land parcels.  

The proposal site benefits from an outline consent under reference number 2731/15/OPA 
permitting a residential development of up to 400 dwellings on two distinct land areas, 
namely Parcels 3 and 4. A Reserved Matters Application (REF:1726/20/ARM) was approved 
on 16 December 2020 for 220 Dwellings on Parcel 3 and a small part of parcel 4.  

This application relates primarily to Crediton Road (B3215), the main road that runs on the 
south-west north-east axis and separates parcel ‘4A’ to the north from parcels ‘4B and 3’ to 
the south. The red outline comprising the application site also includes two sections of land 
either side of the road: land to the east of Crediton Road (approximately 28m of hedgerow 
planting and agricultural land beyond the planting), and land to the west of Crediton Road 
(approximately 60m of hedgerow planting and 3no. trees). 

With regard to site constraints, there are no designations that would materially be impacted.   

 
 
The Proposal: 
The proposal seeks to create a new vehicular access from Crediton Road, together with an 
associated footway. The proposal is required to allow a secondary access on the site as a first 
access was granted previously as part of the outline consent.  
 
Consultations and Representations 
 
Consultations: 
 County Highways Authority (DCC): “No objections to the application from a highway safety 

point of view”. [19/07/2021] 
 

Page 8



 Lead Local Flood Authority (DCC):  
 

Objection (more information required) [17/03/2022]: 
 We would require a climate change allowance of 40% rather than 30% in line with 

current guidance from the Environment Agency.  
 We would require the use of FEH rainfall model rather than FSR data which is out of 

date by 50 years.  
 We would require a plan clearly illustrating the outline of the flood zones, taking into 

account the latest fluvial climate change allowances, and the position of the proposed 
SuDS basins. We are aware that with the latest climate change allowances for fluvial 
flows, the flood zones may have extended and we are keen to see the basins clearly 
outside of Flood Zone 2 and 3.  

 We would require further information about the existing pond proposed to attenuate 
runoff from catchment 3.1. The applicant should submit details on the existing 
catchment and capacity draining into this pond to determine the available capacity 
for attenuation purposes from this proposed development.  

 We would require that the attenuation for long term storage requirements should be 
marked up on the drainage layout.  

 We would require a plan clearly indicating how exceedance flows will be safely 
managed.  

 We would require further information on the design of the basin. The applicant should 
state the side slope of the basins, the level freeboard proposed and whether a 
sediment forebay is being proposed. We are keen for the basins to be designed to 
fulfill the 4 pillars of SuDS from the outset. 

 
 
 Environmental Health Section:  No response received.  
 
 Okehampton Town Council:  

 
Neautral View [04/08/2021] 

 Councillors resolved to submit a neutral view with the comment that the speed limit 
on the road by the proposed junction should be reduced to 30mph 

 
Object [10/08/2021] 

• Ecology and landscape – removal of a large amount of Devon hedgerow would 
cause severe damage to the ecology of the area, of particular concern were the 
resident dormice, and negatively impact on the landscaping of the area  
• Highway Safety – the speed limit should be reduced to a maximum of 30mph 
due to the close proximity of the school and the blinding sunlight along the road that 
will impact drivers  
• Flood risk – will increase the flood risk to nearby Brightly  
• Design/siting/appearance – removal of trees and hedgerows will have a 
negative impact on the area  
• Cumulative impact – additional access will increase the number of access 
routes along the road to three  
• Visual impact – negative impact through the removal of trees and hedgerows  
• Pollution – additional vehicles will increase pollution in the area 
• Health and Safety – risk to pedestrians and other road users, speed limit should 
be reduced to a maximum of 30mph  
• Planning history – there is already an approved access to the development 

 
 

 Tree Specialist:  

Page 9



 
Initial response [01/09/2021]: 
No objection on arboricultural merit subject to submission of the following information prior 
to any commencement on site including any demolition or earthworks. 1. Tree protection 
Plan pertinent to this application. 
 
Revised view [08/03/2022]:  
“No objection on arboricultural merit subject to the noted documents being made an 
approved plan if consent follows”   

 
Representations: 
No representations have been received in response to the public consultation exercise.  
 
Relevant Planning History 
2731/15/OPA - Outline application with access for up to 400 units. Approved by committee 
[22 January 2019] 
 
1726/20/ARM - READVERTISEMENT (Revised Plans Uploaded) Approval of reserved 
matters following outline approval 2731/15/OPA for the construction of 220no. dwellings, 
public open space, landscape planting, pedestrian, cycle and vehicular links and associated 
infrastructure. Conditional Approval [16 December 2020] 
 
0713/21/NMM - Non material minor amendment to planning consent 2731/15/OPA (in order 
to allow visibility splay arrangement to be dependent upon the road speed limit at the time of 
implementation). Approved  [18 August 2021] 
 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Principle of Development/Sustainability: 
The principle of this development was established through a policy designation (TTV14) and 
outline permission (2731/15/OPA) which was approved prior to the adoption of the SPD. 
Application 0713/21/NMM allowed for a change in the visibility splay dependent on whether it 
was agreed to be 40mp/h or 60m/ph.  
 
 
Design/Landscape: 
The design of the proposed new access is largely dictated by the visibility splay requirements 
outlined in pre-application engagement with DCC and the engineering requirements of the 
site which is on a steep incline.  
 
The specific location of the proposed access is also the result of pre-application discussion 
with WDBC planning and tree officers. These discussions involved identifying the most 
valuable trees and minimising the loss of these and also overlaying the visibility splays of this 
proposal with those of the footway crossing on the 4a parcel 
(already approved) in order that the 2 could be positioned so as to minimise tree loss and 
utilise common splay and the natural bends in the road where possible so that cumulative 
loss was also minimised.  
 
The application acknowledges that there will be an impact on the landscape as a result of the 
proposed design. The impacts include the removal of hedgerow and trees (88m) in order to 

Page 10



accommodate the new access and splays. This is an unavoidable feature of the design but 
as outlined in the following section of this report, mitigation and compensation is proposed.  
 
Without the proposed new access pertaining to this application, any forthcoming Reserved 
Matters application for Parcel 4b would need to include significant and visually prominent 
retaining structures due to the gradients and challenging topography of the site. Such 
retaining structures, given the topographic changes and site constraints, would have adverse 
landscape impacts and would result in poor urban design as a consequence of significant 
hard landscaping which would be visually prominent from higher public vantage points within 
the town across the Brightley Stream valley.  
 
Without this secondary access, the quantum of development produced in Parcel 4b is also 
likely to reduce. This would be a direct consequence of the fact that more space would be 
afforded the retaining structures required to create terraces for construction. A reduction in 
the numbers of housing delivered on site would adversely impact the housing delivery and 
viability of the scheme- which has already undergone pressures hitherto.  
 
Therefore, officers conclude that the principle, location and design of the proposed new 
access is acceptable.  
 
Neighbour Amenity: 
It is always necessary for developments to take into account the amenities of neighbours, 
third parties and the environment. By virtue of the proposed development comprising a 
change of access, the nature of the proposal does not present any concerns. The proposal 
would not lead to any materially harmful impact on amenities by way of loss of light, loss of 
outlook, noise, loss of privacy or indeed overbearing impact.  
 
As such, the proposal would not lead to any materially harmful amenity impacts and it 
therefore accords with JLP Policies DEV1 and DEV2 and the requirements of the NPPF. 
 
Water, Flood Risk and Drainage Considerations 
The site lies adjacent to, but outside of, Flood Risk Zones 2 and 3. The site is however within 
a Critical Drainage Area and the proposal includes a drainage system for the access and 
section of roadway but is also designed to accommodate the future drainage of parcel 4b as 
a whole. 
 
The LLFA initially raised objections to the application and commented as follows:  
 
At the time of writing, negotiations were ongoing re drainage, however it is anticipated that 
this issue can be overcome by the committee or addressed by condition, Officers will give an 
oral update at committee.  
 
Highways, Access and Parking Considerations 
Policy DEV29 of the JLP stipulates the specific provisions relating to transport. As articulated 
in the first line of the policy, development will be required to contribute positively to the 
achievement of a high quality, effective and safe transport system in the Plan Area. 
Development proposals should therefore, where appropriate; 
 

1. Consider the impact of development on the wider transport network,  
2. Provide safe and satisfactory traffic movement and vehicular access to and within the site and  
3. Ensure sufficient provision and management of car parking in order to protect the amenity of 

surrounding residential areas and ensure safety of the highway network. 

Page 11



 
Highways/Transport impacts 
The Local Highway Authority (DCC) have responded to the consultation and provided 
comments on the application, these are as follows:  
 

“The application has been the subject of numerous pre-application discussions and 
correspondence concerning the need to provide it to access the site appropriately. The 
applicant has already applied to reduce the speed limit of the road in the vicinity of the site and 
the highway authority has already approved the 'Departure from Policy' for that to take place. 
The alteration to the speed limit will be the subject of the necessary Traffic Regulation Order 
advertising procedure in the very near future and it is anticipated that the road will soon be 
subject to a 40 speed restriction. There are therefore no objections to the application from a 
highway safety point of view.” 

 
In light of the above, the Highway Authority have recommended the following condition be 
imposed on any forthcoming decision:  
 

‘The site access road and visibility splays shall be constructed, laid out and maintained 
for that purpose in accordance with the application drawings and the visibility splays 
shall thereafter be maintained free of any obstruction to their designated use.  
 
REASON: To provide a satisfactory access to the site and to provide adequate 
visibility from and of emerging vehicles’  

 
It is therefore reasonable that any grant of approval includes the above recommended 
condition.  
 
Access 
The application proposes a secondary access into Parcel 4b. After iterative designs produced 
during discussions with the LPA, a secondary vehicular access into Parcel 4b has been 
incorporated into the final design. This access has been deemed necessary for sound design 
reasons.  
 
A footway is also proposed on the north eastern side of the access road only. The proposed 
footway will stop short of Crediton Road, as there are no existing or proposed footways on 
Crediton Road. The footway will however connect to an uncontrolled crossing that leads into 
the consented play space to the south.  
 
A Technical Assessment (TA) was undertaken by Miles White Transport and was provided 
with the application. This states, inter alia, that the primary change is to the proposed visibility 
splays, which have been drawn to reflect the proposed 40mph speed limit agreed with DCC 
on the section of Crediton Road. The changes also provide the opportunity to reconsider the 
location of the indicative bus stops in a more central and convenient location for the future 
residents of Parcels 4a and 4b. Consequential changes to the footways from both parcels of 
development to the bus stops have also been made to accommodate this. The TA concluded 
that ‘the proposed additional access arrangement accords with highway design standards 
and complements the approved access junction arrangement. Therefore, it is our 
professional view that there are no technical reasons why the additional access junction 
should not be permitted.’ 
 
Parking 

Page 12



No parking is proposed as part of this application as it just relates to a proposed new access 
arrangement and associated footway for Parcel 4b.  
 
In having regard to the above, it is considered that the proposal accords with JLP Policy 
DEV29, in particular DEV29.1 DEV29.2 and DEV29.3 and the guise of the NPPF 
(paragraphs 110 and 111).  
 
 
Biodiversity and Ecology  
Paragraph 174 of the NPPF articulates that planning policies and decisions should contribute 
to and enhance the natural and local environment. Paragraph 180 is explicit that 
development whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity should be 
supported; while opportunities to improve biodiversity in and around developments should be 
integrated as part of their design, especially where this can secure measurable net gains for 
biodiversity. 
 
Policy DEV26 of the JLP relates to protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geological 
conservation and states that development should support the protection, conservation, 
enhancement and restoration of biodiversity and geodiversity across the Plan Area.  
DEV26.5 specifically relates to major development proposals and states that net gains in 
biodiversity will be sought through the promotion, restoration and re-creation of priority 
habitats, ecological networks and the protection and recovery of legally protected and priority 
species populations. Delivery of net gains in biodiversity should be designed to support the 
delivery of the identified biodiversity network that crosses the Plan Area. 
 
The application was supported by varying ecological reports undertaken ‘GE Consulting’. The 
reports concluded that the development will result in the loss of 88m of species rich 
hedgerow. This could have potential impacts upon dormice (which have been confirmed as 
present in all suitable habitat), nesting birds and bats. In order to minimise the potential 
impact on wildlife, the following mitigation and compensation measures are proposed to be 
implemented: 
 
Dormice - All vegetation clearance works will be undertaken under a European Protected 
Species licence from Natural England. 
 
The proposal meets the three Habitats Regulations tests: 
 
i) Overriding Public Interest:  The works are essential to allow for the acceptable 
development of Phase 4b to proceed. 
 
ii) Alternatives: There is no alternative which does not lead to a loss of hedgerow habitat. Any 
access into this parcel for development would require the removal of suitable dormice habitat, 
and thus require a licence from Natural England.  
 
iii) Favourable Conservation Status:  To ensure the favourable conservation status of the 
dormouse population is maintained, Phase 4B will be providing 690m of new hedgerow 
planting across the site and 0.18ha of woodland planting along the eastern/south-eastern 
boundary. At least 560m of hedgerow will be provided which has good connectivity to the 
retained and proposed suitable boundary habitats. The proposed hedgerows will not form the 
boundaries to private dwellings, being retained in the public realm allowing appropriate 
management in accordance with the LEMP.  
 

Page 13



Foraging/commuting Bats – Linear functionality is to be retained with the mitigation 
proposed above for dormice. Phase 4b will include a lighting strategy which ensures features 
used by nocturnal wildlife will be kept dark and functional. 
 
Nesting Birds – the 88m of hedgerow provide suitable bird nesting habitat. A condition 
should be placed on any decision notice to ensure clearance is at a suitable time only or 
inspected by an ecologist 
 
 
With the addition of the conditions cited and the mitigation as proposed in the applican’t 
ecological report secured, it is concluded that the proposed access will not have a long-term 
impact on biodiversity with wider biodiversity net gains provided within Phase 4B when 
brought forward as a Reserved Matters Application. Consequently policy DEV26 is satisfied.   
 
Trees 
Policy DEV28 relates to trees, wodlands and hedgerows. The LPA’s Tree Officer has stated 
they have “No objection on arboricultural merit subject to the noted documents being made 
an approved plan if consent follows”   
 
As discussed above this location was arrived at in discussion with officers in order to 
minimise the cumulative loss from this access and the footway to 4a. 
 
A tree and hedge protection plan undertaken by ‘ge-consulting’ is included with the 
application and a suitably worded condition will be included in any forthcoming decision to 
ensure the measures detailed within are adhered to. The proposal therefore satisfies DEV28. 
 
The Climate Emergency and Low-Carbon Development 
Paragraph 152 of the NPPF articulates the need for the planning system to support the 
transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate, taking full account of flood risk and 
coastal change. The JLP also supports the transition to a low carbon future. DEV32 of the 
JLP further supports a transition to a low carbon future aiming to deliver low carbon 
development. The application is limited in its scope and ability to satisfy the above policies by 
virtue of the development proposing a new access. The forthcoming Reserved Matters 
Application for Parcel 4b would be expected to address these policies satisfactorily. 
Therefore, although measures are absent from this specific application, the ability to deliver 
low-carbon development at the site when viewed as a whole has not been hindered.  
 
Conclusion 
In having regard to the above analysis, officers conclude the application for a new access 
and associated footpath at Parcel 4b when considered in the planning balance has more 
benefit than disbenefits to the design and delivery of this allocation and the area provided 
that the conditions recommended are adhered to. As such officers recommend conditional 
approval.   
 
This application has been considered in accordance with Section 38 of the Planning & 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
Planning Policy 
 
Relevant policy framework 
Section 70 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act requires that regard be had to the 
development plan, any local finance and any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of 

Page 14



the 2004 Planning and Compensation Act requires that applications are to be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.  For the purposes of decision making, as of March 26th 2019, the Plymouth & 
South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 is now part of the development plan for 
Plymouth City Council, South Hams District Council and West Devon Borough Council (other 
than parts of South Hams and West Devon within Dartmoor National Park). 
 
The relevant development plan policies are set out below: 
 
The Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan was adopted by South Hams 
District Council on March 21st 2019 and West Devon Borough Council on March 26th 
2019. 
 
SPT1 Delivering sustainable development 
SPT2 Sustainable linked neighbourhoods and sustainable rural communities 
TTV1 Prioritising growth through a hierarchy of sustainable settlements 
TTV2 Delivering sustainable development in the Thriving Towns and Villages Policy Area 
DEV1 Protecting health and amenity 
DEV2 Air, water, soil, noise, land and light 
DEV10 Delivering high quality housing 
DEV20 Place shaping and the quality of the built environment 
DEV21 Development affecting the historic environment 
DEV23 Landscape character 
DEV26 Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geological conservation 
DEV29 Specific provisions relating to transport 
DEV32 Delivering low carbon development 
DEV35 Managing flood risk and Water Quality Impacts  
 
Neighbourhood Plan: Outside the scope of any adopted NP as the Okehampton Town 
and Okehampton Hamlets Neighbourhood Plan is pending adoption.  
 
Other material considerations include the policies of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) including but not limited to paragraphs 39, 48, 130, 132, 131, 152, 154 (a+b), 157, 
174 and 180 and guidance in Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). Additionally, the following 
planning documents are also material considerations in the determination of the application:  
 
The Plymouth and South West Devon Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)  
 
Considerations under Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010 
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010 have been taken into 
account in reaching the recommendation contained in this report. 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 
PLANNING APPLICATION REPORT  
 
Case Officer:  David Jeffery                    Parish:  Exbourne   Ward:  Exbourne 
 
Application No: 2927/21/FUL  
 

 

Agent/Applicant: 
Stephen Blakeman - Architecture & 
Design Technology 
1 Rose Cottages 
Exbourne 
Okehampton 
EX20 3SH 

 

Applicant: 
Mr & Mrs I & S Haithwaite 
C/O Agent 
 

 
Site Address: Land Adjacent To Hayfield Road, Road From Townsend Farm To 
Waterhouse Farm Lane, Exbourne, Devon 
 

 
 
 
Development: Change of use of land and conversion of building to provide holiday 
accommodation.  
 
Reason item is being put before Committee 
Cllr Ratcliffe has called the application before committee for the following reason: “The case 
in finely balanced because of its proximity to Exbourne and needs further consideration”. 
 

Recommendation: REFUSE PERMISSION 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5b



 
Reason 
The site is poorly related to nearby settlements and is not served by a satisfactory and safe 
pedestrian connection that will discourage use of private vehicles. As such the location of the 
proposed holiday accommodation would rely heavily on car use and represents an unjustified 
and unsustainable intrusion into this Countryside location which would set an undesirable 
precedent. The proposed use, catering for equine holidays, is also likely to give rise to further 
pressure for development on the site. As such, the proposal fails to meet policy objectives and 
policies SPT1, SPT2, TTV1, TTV25, TTV26 and DEV15. 
 
Key issues for consideration 

 Principle of Development/Sustainability 
 Design/Landscape 
 Neighbour Amenity 
 Highways/Access 
 Trees/Ecology 
 Other issues 

 
 
Site Description 
The application site comprises an agricultural field approximately 0.25 miles (400m) north of 
the village of Exbourne. The field is well enclosed by mature hedgerows and includes a small 
field shelter/stables in its south west corner (approved 2002), which is now proposed as part 
of the current application for use as a holiday let. The application site relates to a section of the 
field in the south west corner which encompasses the existing agricultural building.  
 
The site is not within any landscape protection designation but is located within landscape 
character type 3A Upper farmed and wooded valley slopes.  
 
The Proposal 
Change of use of land and conversion of an existing agricultural building/stables into a holiday 
lodge.  
 
Consultations 
 County Highways Authority – No highways implications   
 
 Exbourne and Jacobstowe Parish Council - Support 
 
Representations 
Two letters providing comments have been received, which are classed as ‘undecided’. 
These letters make the following comments:  
 

 Ongoing management of the shed and the land will be necessary to ensure the place 
does not become a neglected. 

 Good that this proposal does not displace village accommodation that could be a 
permanent dwelling. 

 A subsequent owner of the field may want to erect a building, leading to more 
urbanisation. 

 This development should remain as a holiday let and not as a stepping stone to gain 
permission for a permanent dwelling in the future. 

Page 18



 Access to the site is along Hayfield Road from The Square (passing the Village Hall 
which has a 3.3m overhang) or through the narrow lane between Stone Farm and 
Townsend Farm. Large horse trailers could cause damage to the Village Hall, 
properties in Hayfield Road (which includes two listed buildings) Townsend Farm 
house and Stone Farm buildings. 

 
Relevant Planning History 
3345/2002/OKE - Haybarn/Field Shelter - Conditional Approval - 09/09/2002 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Principle of Development/Sustainability 
The principle of establishing a holiday let in this location will need to be considered against 
Joint Local Plan policies to determine whether it can be considered a sustainable 
development. Although there are no specific tourism policies in the Joint Local Plan, Policy 
SPT1 sets out how development and change will be managed in accordance with the 
principles of delivering a sustainable economy, a sustainable society and a sustainable 
environment. Policy SPT2 provides more guidance on achieving sustainable rural 
communities, indicating that these should be well served by public transport, walking and 
cycling opportunities; should have a safe and accessible local environment; and should have 
an appropriate level of services and facilities to meet local needs. 
 
These matters are further elaborated upon by Policies TTV1 and TTV2, which set out the 
development strategy for the Thriving Towns and Villages and which aim to prioritise growth 
through a hierarchy of sustainable settlements and deliver sustainable development. Policy 
TTV1 of the JLP sets out the Council’s development strategy across the Thriving Towns and 
Villages Policy Area.  
 
For the purposes of Policy TTV1, the site is located in the Countryside where development 
will be permitted only if it can be demonstrated to support the principles of sustainable 
development and sustainable communities (Policies SPT1 and 2) including as provided for in 
Policy TTV26. 
 
Policy TTV26 of the adopted Joint Local Plan sets a set of criteria for allowing development in 
the countryside, and states that it will only be permitted in exceptional circumstances.  Given 
the application site would not constitute ‘isolated development’, sub-paragraph TTV26 
(2) is engaged. This states, Development proposals should, where appropriate: 
 

i. Protect and improve public rights of way and bridleways. 
ii. Re-use traditional buildings that are structurally sound enough for renovation without 

significant enhancement or alteration. 
iii. Be complementary to and not prejudice any viable agricultural operations on a farm 

and other existing viable uses. 
iv. Respond to a proven agricultural, forestry and other occupational need that requires a 

countryside location. 
v. Avoid the use of Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land. 
vi. Help enhance the immediate setting of the site and include a management plan and 

exit strategy that demonstrates how long term degradation of the landscape and 
natural environment will be avoided. 

 
 

Page 19



As the proposals do not respond to an occupational need that requires a countryside location 
TTV26.2 (iv), Officers consider that the proposals are contrary to Policy TTV26. The small 
timber stable proposed for conversion is not considered to represent a ‘traditional building’ 
with heritage value which would gain support for conversion under TTV26.2 (ii). 
 
It is acknowledged that the site is around 0.25 of a mile (400m) from Exbourne, which is 
named as a ‘Sustainable Village’ where development to meet locally identified needs and to 
sustain limited services and amenities will be supported. Although, the JLP reinforces that 
development outside of the ‘built up area’ of such settlements (para 5.5) should be 
considered under TTV26, it could be argued that proposals for visitor accommodation close 
to a Sustainable Village would find some support from Policy DEV15 ‘Supporting the Rural 
Economy’. 
 
Policy DEV15 states that ‘support will be given to proposals in suitable locations which seek 
to improve the balance of jobs within the rural areas and diversify the rural economy’ and that 
(7) ‘Camping, caravan, chalet or similar facilities that respond to an identified local need will 
be supported, provided the proposal is compatible with the rural road network, has no 
adverse environmental impact and is not located within the Undeveloped Coast policy area’. 
DEV15 also requires that proposals such as this are supported by evidence of the need for 
the type of accommodation and also a Sustainable Travel Plan which demonstrates how the 
impacts of additional traffic movements in a rural location have been understood, with an 
appropriate strategy to both minimise associated movements, and mitigate for its carbon 
impact.  
 
Although the submitted Sustainable Travel plan details positive measures to mitigate private 
vehicle use, Officers consider that the key requirement of Policy DEV15, that development is 
in a ‘suitable location’, has not been satisfied. Although the site’s proximity to a Sustainable 
Village is acknowledged, its degree of detachment from Exbourne means that the site must 
be characterised as being in a Countryside location. Furthermore, the lane which connects 
the site and Exbourne, which is narrow with no footway or lighting, is likely to discourage its 
use by pedestrians and contribute to an overreliance on private vehicles.  
 
In terms of whether the proposals respond to an ‘identified local need’ (DEV15 para 7), the 
submitted business plan details a justification for the type of proposed accommodation 
including an overview of other locally available accommodation options. The primary 
justification for the accommodation appears to be to cater for visitors who wish to bring their 
horses on holiday. Officers consider that this justification is inadequate given that approving 
this application would result in the loss of a stable block and that no replacement provision is 
proposed to cater for the horses that visitors are proposed to bring. The proposals therefore 
fail to comply with paragraph 7 of DEV15, which specifically relates to new chalet type 
accommodation. Any benefits arising from the accommodation in terms of jobs and the local 
economy are not considered to significant enough to overcome the unsuitability of this 
Countryside location.  
 
As no adequate justification has been provided for a self-contained holiday let in this 
unsustainable Countryside location, the proposals are considered to be contrary to Policies 
SPT1, SPT2 and TTV1, DEV15, TTV25, TTV26.  As a result the development cannot be 
supported in principle.  

Design/Landscape 
Policy DEV20 ‘Place shaping and the quality of the built environment’ states that 
development proposals will be required to meet good standards of design, contributing 

Page 20



positively to both townscape and landscape, and protect and improve the quality of the built 
environment. JLP Policy DEV23 ‘Landscape Character’ states that ‘development will 
conserve and enhance landscape, townscape and seascape character and scenic and visual 
quality, avoiding significant and adverse landscape or visual impacts’. 
 
The existing building proposed for conversion is a single storey stable building with dual pitch 
roof set on a concrete slab. It is proposed that the converted building will provide a double 
bedroom, separate shower room and a kitchen diner. The proposed standard of 
accommodation is also considered to be acceptable and in accordance with JLP Policy 
DEV8. As the proposals involve the conversion of an existing building, there is not 
considered to be any significant visual impacts associated with the application. The proposed 
materials include timber cladding and purpose made timber window and door frames. These 
materials are considered to be acceptable.  
 
There seem to be few publicly accessible locations that would afford potential views of the 
site. The greatest potential visibility is from the public highway as it passes the site but along 
much of its length it is contained within Devon banks and hedgerows that are tight to 
carriageway. It is acknowledged that the use of the land as a holiday let, its amenity space 
and its enclosure with new hedgerows may result in a change in character of the land. 
However, the screening provided by the proposed native hedgerow planting will mitigate any 
residual visual whilst also benefiting biodiversity. Little physical change is proposed to the 
existing and as such the visual impacts of the proposals are considered to be acceptable and 
in accordance with JLP Policies DEV20 and DEV23 of the JLP.  
 
 
Highways/Access 
The development makes use of an existing highways access. Devon County Highways have 
been consulted and raise no objections. The proposals are considered to be in accordance 
with JLP Policy DEV29.  
 
Neighbour Amenity 
No neighbours or other sensitive uses in close proximity to the site. As such, the proposal 
would not lead to any materially harmful impact on residential amenity by way of loss of light, 
loss of outlook, loss of privacy or overbearing impact. It would therefore accord with JLP 
Policies DEV1 and DEV2 and the requirements of the NPPF. 
 
Drainage 
Although no increase in impermeable area is proposed as part of the application, surface 
water drainage is proposed via a soakaway. Foul drainage is proposed to be dealt with on 
site using a package treatment plant. The Council’s drainage specialist has been consulted 
and raises no objections.  
 
Conclusion 
The proposed development represents the introduction of a self-contained residential unit in 
a countryside location without adequate justification. The site is neither well related to the 
nearby settlement of Exbourne nor served by a satisfactory pedestrian connection that will 
discourage use of private vehicles. In conclusion, the proposals are not supported by relevant 
JLP Policies and would result an unsustainable form of development contrary to planning 
policy. 
 
This application has been considered in accordance with Section 38 of the Planning & 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

Page 21



 
Planning Policy 
 
Relevant policy framework 
Section 70 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act requires that regard be had to the 
development plan, any local finance and any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of 
the 2004 Planning and Compensation Act requires that applications are to be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise.  For the purposes of decision making, as of March 26th 2019, the Plymouth & 
South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 is now part of the development plan for 
Plymouth City Council, South Hams District Council and West Devon Borough Council (other 
than parts of South Hams and West Devon within Dartmoor National Park). 
 
On 26 March 2019 of the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan was adopted by all 
three of the component authorities. Following adoption, the three authorities jointly notified 
the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG)* of their choice to 
monitor the Housing Requirement at the whole plan level. This is for the purposes of the 
Housing Delivery Test (HDT) and the 5 Year Housing Land Supply assessment.  A letter from 
MHCLG to the Authorities was received on 13 May 2019 confirming the change.  
On 13th January 2021 MHCLG published the HDT 2020 measurement.  This confirmed the 
Plymouth. South Hams and West Devon’s joint HDT measurement as 144% and the 
consequences are “None”. 
 
Therefore a 5% buffer is applied for the purposes of calculating a 5 year land supply at a 
whole plan level. When applying the 5% buffer, the combined authorities can demonstrate a 
5-year land supply of 5.8 years at end March 2021 (the 2021 Monitoring Point). This is set 
out in the Plymouth, South Hams & West Devon Local Planning Authorities’ Housing Position 
Statement 2021 (published 12th November 2021). 
 
[*now known as Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities] 
 
The relevant development plan policies are set out below: 
 
The Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan was adopted by South Hams 
District Council on March 21st 2019 and West Devon Borough Council on March 26th 
2019. 
 
SPT1 Delivering sustainable development 
SPT2 Sustainable linked neighbourhoods and sustainable rural communities 
TTV1 Prioritising growth through a hierarchy of sustainable settlements 
TTV2 Delivering sustainable development in the Thriving Towns and Villages Policy Area 
TTV25 Development in the Sustainable Villages 
TTV26 Development in the Countryside 
DEV1 Protecting health and amenity 
DEV2 Air, water, soil, noise, land and light 
DEV10 Delivering high quality housing 
DEV15 Supporting the rural economy 
DEV20 Place shaping and the quality of the built environment 
DEV21 Development affecting the historic environment 
DEV23 Landscape character 
DEV26 Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geological conservation 
DEV28 Trees, woodlands and hedgerows 

Page 22



DEV29 Specific provisions relating to transport 
DEV31 Waste management 
DEV32 Delivering low carbon development 
 
Other material considerations include the policies of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) and guidance in Planning Practice Guidance (PPG).  
 
Considerations under Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010 
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010 have been taken into 
account in reaching the recommendation contained in this report. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATION REPORT  
 
Case Officer:   Cheryl Stansbury                  Parish:  Okehampton   Ward:  Okehampton 
South 
 
Application No:  1861/21/CAC 
 

 

Agent/Applicant: 
Mr Tim Capps - Oxenham Consult 
Oxenham Manor 
Okehampton 
EX20 2RQ 

 

Applicant: 
The Trustees Okehampton Skills and 
Sports Trust 
C/O Fairways 
Tanners Hill 
EX20 4ND 
 

Site Address:    The Old Mill, Mill Road, Okehampton 
 

 
Development:  READVERTISEMENT (Revised plans received) Conservation area 
consent for demolition of redundant stone warehouse buildings  
 

Reason for item being called to Committee: Called in by Cllr Julie Yelland ‘I should like 
to call this into the committee on the grounds that the building is a non-designated heritage 
asset and, somewhat unusually, there is no sister application for what will replace it. ‘ 
 
Recommendation: 
Conditional Approval 
 
Conditions: 

1. Time limit for implementation 
2. Approved drawings and documents including CEMP 
3. Works to accord with WSI for building recording and archaeological watching brief 
4. Works to accord with Ecological Impact Assessment 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5c



5. No works to commence until bat licence provided 
6. No works to commence until compensatory bat roost provided 
7. No works to commence until leat safeguarding details agreed 
8. Recycling/salvage of stone strategy 
9. No lighting unless agreed 
10. Unexpected contamination  

 
Additional Informatives: 

1. LBC required for any works to listed Chimney 
2. A Flood Risk Activities permit from the EA is required. 
3. Works within the highway require separate consent 

 
Key issues for consideration: 
Heritage 
Ecology 
Flood and Water Management 
The s38(6) Planning Balance 
 
 
Site Description: 
The site is within the built up area of Okehampton, a Main Town, close to its centre and adjacent 
to residential buildings, north of the College. The general topography of the site is sloping, from 
north-east to south-west.  
 
The site emerged as part of a former vitriol and manure works dating from the Victorian period. 
The site was closed in the early C20th and has been subject to varying uses since. It is 
understood that the site has been abandoned and left derelict “for at least the last 30 years”. 
The Council is not in a position to gainsay that assertion and noting also the dilapidated nature 
of the site it is fair to say that there is no current planning use associated with it (i.e. its loss 
would not prejudice any policies relating to the protection of employment floorspace, for 
instance). 
 
The site comprises of four buildings and a chimney. The walls are constructed from random, 
uncoursed limestone walls under pitched roofs of corrugated steel sheeting. Large areas of 
dense concrete blockwork were also present. The sheeting is supported on purlins, supported 
in turn on either steel or timber trusses. There are timber floors in some buildings at first floor 
level. 
 
The buildings subject to this application are in a parlous state of dereliction, such that a 
Dangerous Structure Notice has recently been served by Devon Building Control Partnership 
- following Storm Eunice in February 2022 it is understood that existing cracks/fissures within 
the building(s) adjacent to the footpath on Mill Road have widened (the gable end), posing a 
clear and present risk to public safety; pedestrians and road traffic. Further damage to the roofs 
of the buildings has also occurred. 
 
Between surveys in 2019 and October 2021, it is recorded by the applicant’s surveyor that 
“there has been clear progressive deterioration in the structural fabric of the buildings, in both 
the walls and the roofs. Long term water ingress has caused, and continues to cause, 
irreversible damage to a majority of the roof, walls and floor structures. The roofs are defective 
and require complete renewal and these defects are now starting to show externally.” The walls 
are in particularly poor condition with invasive vegetation causing further damage. 
 

Page 26



A 26m-high chimney stack lies at the centre of the site and is prominent within the streetscape, 
adjoining the buildings that remain. The chimney stack is statutorily protected1 as a Grade II 
listed building (‘Chimney about 50 metres west north west of Town Mill’, id ref. 1105867) 
(“Chimney”). 
 
Two further listed buildings, both Grade II, lie approximately 40m to the north-west and south-
east; ‘Footbridge about 30 metres west of Chimney at Town Mill’ (id ref. 1105868) 
(“Footbridge”), and ‘Town Mill’ (id ref. 1105861) (“Town Mill”), respectively. 
 
The Grade II Registered Park and Garden, Simmons Park (id ref. 1001625) is to the west, 
sweeping south-eastwards. Simmons Park is around 80m from the Chimney at its closest point. 
 
The site is within the eastern area of the Okehampton Conservation Area, designated 1990. 
As a designated heritage asset, it is also protected by the listed buildings Act. 
 
The majority of the site lies within Flood Zone 3 where there is an increased risk of fluvial 
flooding. There is a leat that passes under the subject buildings (Building A on the Site 
Demolition Works plan), which is classified as a main river. 
 
The subject buildings currently provide roosting opportunities for bats, which are protected 
species. 
 
The Proposal: 
Planning permission is sought for the urgent demolition of the subject buildings within the site, 
adjacent to and abutting the Chimney. Planning permission is required because the proposal 
amounts to “relevant demolition” (as per the principal Act), which includes unlisted buildings in 
conservation areas.  
 
The four subject buildings, A – D, would be taken down generally to ground or low level, with 
some return elements to remain alongside iron support posts. 
 
The Chimney would not be demolished and is considered to be stable and in a good state of 
repair; it is self-supporting and requires no buttressing, bracing or any other external support 
to keep it stable. For precaution, 2m of walling that it is attached to (north elevation of Building 
B) would be retained in situ, either side. 
 
It is stated that all existing boundary walls and fencing to remain with and reclaimed materials 
to be stored off site and waste to be removed. It is considered that the majority of stone within 
the site can be salvaged. 
 
The application is determined concurrent with application ref. 3815/21/FUL (approved 21/3/22), 
where a permanent bat roost is proposed to be provided to compensate for the loss of bat 
roosting opportunities in the existing buildings. For the sake of prudence, it is considered that 
the compensatory roost structure should be provided prior to demolition taking place and a 
licence being made available. 
 
Consultations:  
 Okehampton Town Council – Support: 

 

                                       
1 By virtue of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (“listed buildings Act”). The relevant 
provisions are considered later in this report. 

Page 27



“At a meeting of Okehampton Town Council's Planning Committee on 13th December 2021 
it was agreed to support the readvertisement (Revised plans received) conservation area 
consent for demolition of redundant stone warehouse buildings at The Old Mill, Mill Road, 
Okehampton with the following comments: 
 

- There is no structural engineers report with calculations as to the impact of the 
demolition or vibrations from the work on the listed chimney or medieval culvert 
available 

- The location of the bat roost will obscure view of the listed bridge 
- To note that it difficult to ascertain what the revisions are and ask that the Planning 

Officers highlight changed on all readvertised planning applications” 
 

[previous comment of August 2021 also referred to need to consider rodents on site.] 
 

 Historic England –  
 
“Historic England continues to have concerns regarding the application on heritage 
grounds. These are outlined in detail above and in our first letter of 29 July, and relate to 
the unjustified harm that the proposals would cause to heritage assets, with no 
demonstrable counter-balancing public benefit. We consider that the issues and safeguards 
outlined in our advice need to be addressed in order for the application to meet the 
requirements of paragraphs 199, 200, (201), 202, 204 and 206 of the NPPF.  
 
Your authority should take these representations into account and seek amendments, 
safeguards or further information as set out in our advice. If there are any material changes 
to the proposals, or you would like further advice, please contact us.” 
 

 DCC Ecology Specialist – No objection subject to conditions including Grampian-type 
control relating to Bat licence. 
 

 WDBC Heritage Specialist - The concerns expressed by Historic England remain valid and 
I cannot take a contrary stance. Do not consider the mill buildings are curtilage listed, but 
are attached to the chimney. Even if the status of the buildings is of ‘non-designated 
heritage assets’ the total loss is considered ‘substantial harm’. The effect on the CA as a 
designated heritage asset (when judged as a whole) would be ‘less than substantial’. 
 
It would be unusual to approve demolition without any re-development approved as 
required by NPPF 204. A precautionary approach must be adopted. 
 

 Local Highway Authority – No objection/no highways implications but inform that works 
within the public highway require separate licence/consent. 

 
 DCC Historic Environment – No objection subject to pre-commencement investigation and 

recording condition.  
 

 Environment Agency – No objection subject to pre-commencement condition to  
demonstrate how the leat will be safeguarded during the works. 

 
 Environmental Health Officer – No objection subject to CEMP condition. 

Page 28



 
Representations: 
2 no. representations have been received in support of the application, summarised as follows: 
 

- Support the principle but future development must reflect industrial heritage. 
- Any new development should provide footpath/improvements. 
- The leat should be protected at all times; blockages, contamination etc. 
- The rats on site should not be allowed to escape into adjacent residential properties. 
- Construction phase plan should be improved in relation to site management, HGV, 

removal of material, contamination, vibration, risk to pedestrians. 
 

2 no. representations have been received objecting to the application, summarised as follows: 
 

- The buildings should be reused / regenerated appropriately. 
- The site should not be cleared as a prelude to housing. 
- The historic neglect of the buildings is not a valid reason for demolition. 
- The buildings are an important part of the history of the town. 
- Ecological information is out of date. 
- Bat surveys were undertaken out of season. 
- The LPA is not in a position to fully assess the impact of the development on protected 

species. 
- Wildlife checklist is missing which is a standard DCC requirement. 

 
1 no. representation has been received from the Association for Industrial Archaeology, 
undecided on the application, copied as follows: 
 

“The Association for Industrial Archaeology notes that this application is for conservation 
area consent for the demolition of four redundant stone warehouse buildings. These 
buildings are not listed in their own right but are associated with the listed (Grade II) 
chimney. They may be considered as non-designated heritage assets. There are now 
just four stone built structures associated with the former manure works and the 
production of vitriol, however, they do present an interesting frontage to Mill Road. Even 
Pevsner (The Buildings of England, Devon, second edition of 1989) at page 609 refers 
to the remains of an industrial miscellany in Mill Road. These buildings are all part of 
Okehampton’s history and add interest to the town and therefore it is unfortunate that 
their condition, and that there is no viable use for them means that demolition appears 
now to be the only option. If the application is approved, it is essential that they are 
adequately recorded.” 

 

Page 29



Relevant Planning History: 
3815/21/FUL 
Construction of a structure to be used as a bat roost 
Approved 21/3/22 
 
3735/19/FUL 
Remove redundant buildings at former Mill Site retaining listed Chimney and development of a 
mix of 18 Residential units 
[Withdrawn 04.05.2020] 
 
3736/19/LBC 
Listed building consent for works associated with the removal of redundant buildings at former 
Mill Site retaining listed Chimney and development of a mix of 18 Residential units 
[Withdrawn 04.05.2020] 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Heritage: 
Legal Duties and Policy 
Section 66(1) of the listed buildings Act states that in considering whether to grant planning 
permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the decision taker shall 
have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest that it possesses. 
 
Section 69 of the same Act relates to the designation of conservation areas and requires that 
local planning authorities determine which parts within its administrative ward are areas of 
special architectural or historic interest; the character or appearance of which it is desirable to 
preserve or enhance. Section 72(1) provides for a similar duty to s66(1) with respect to any 
buildings or other land in a conservation area. For decision taking it requires that special 
attention is paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of 
such an area. 
 
The effect of those statutory provisions (ss.66(1) and 72(1)) is that the desirability of preserving 
the setting of a listed building (or character/appearance of a conservation area) must be treated 
as a matter of ‘considerable importance and weight’, with such duties regarded as presenting 
a ‘strong presumption’ against a grant of planning permission where harm to a designated 
heritage asset is identified2. 
 
Policy DEV21 identifies that development proposals will need to sustain the local character and 
distinctiveness of the area by conserving and, where appropriate, enhancing its historic 
environment, both designated and non-designated heritage assets and their settings, in a 
manner appropriate to their national and local significance. The policy goes on to state that 
great weight will be given to the conservation of the Plan Area's designated heritage assets. 
Where development proposals will lead to any harm to the significance of a designated heritage 
asset, they must be fully justified against the public benefits of the development. Development 
that harms the significance of locally important non-designated heritage assets, or their 
contribution to the character of a place will only be permitted where it can be justified on the 
basis of a balanced judgement, having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the 
significance of the heritage asset.  

                                       
2 South Lakeland District Council v Secretary of State for the Environment and Another [1992] 2 AC 141; R (Barnwell 
Manor Wind Energy Ltd) v East Northamptonshire DC [2014] EWCA Civ 137. 

Page 30



 
The local policy is considered to be consistent with the relevant provisions of the NPPF, 
particularly Chapter 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment. 
 
Within Chapter 16, paragraph 189 states that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource 
and should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance. Paragraph 199 states 
that when considering the impact of a proposed development upon the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the 
more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). The great weight should be given 
irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than 
substantial harm to its significance. 
 
Paragraph 200 states that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage 
asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require 
clear and convincing justification. 
 
Further direction relating to assessment and treatment of harm is provided at paragraphs 196 
and 204. The former states that where there is evidence of deliberate neglect of, or damage 
to, a heritage asset, the deteriorated state of the heritage asset should not be taken into 
account in any decision. The latter states that local planning authorities should not permit the 
loss of the whole or part of a heritage asset without taking all reasonable steps to ensure that 
new development will proceed after the loss has occurred.  
 
Paragraphs 206 and 207 specifically reference conservation areas and among other things 
state that local planning authorities should look for opportunities for new development within 
them (as well as within the setting of heritage assets) to enhance or better reveal their 
significance. It is stated that proposals that preserve those elements of a setting that make a 
positive contribution to the asset (or which better reveal its significance) should be treated 
favourably. It is also recognised that not all elements of a conservation area will necessarily 
contribute to its significance. Loss of a building or other element which does make a positive 
contribution to the significance of a conservation area should be treated as harmful, taking into 
account the relative significance of the element affected and its contribution to the significance 
of the conservation area as a whole. 
 
Paragraphs 201 and 202 address the balancing of harm to designated heritage assets against 
public benefits, whether that be “less than substantial harm” (para. 202) or “substantial harm” 
(para. 201). As will be made clear it is only the paragraph 202 test that applies to this 
application. 
 
Paragraph 202 states: 
 

“Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the 
public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable 
use.” 

 
Harm to non-designated assets is dealt with under paragraph 203, which states that in weighing 
applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced 
judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance 
of the heritage asset.  
 
Guidance – NPPF / PPG 

Page 31



 
Where the NPPF does not define “substantial harm”, the PPG provides assistance and is 
current Government guidance. Officers afford it great weight. It makes clear that where harm 
is identified: 
 

“…it needs to be categorised as either less than substantial harm or substantial harm 
(which includes total loss) in order to identify which policies in the [NPPF] apply”.3 

 
In respect of substantial harm, within the same paragraph the PPG states: 
 

“In general terms, substantial harm is a high test, so it may not arise in many cases. For 
example, in determining whether works to a listed building constitute substantial harm, 
an important consideration would be whether the adverse impact seriously affects a key 
element of its special architectural or historic interest. It is the degree of harm to the 
asset’s significance rather than the scale of the development that is to be assessed. The 
harm may arise from works to the asset or from development within its setting. 

 
While the impact of total destruction is obvious, partial destruction is likely to have a 
considerable impact but, depending on the circumstances, it may still be less than 
substantial harm or conceivably not harmful at all, for example, when removing later 
additions to historic buildings where those additions are inappropriate and harm the 
buildings’ significance. Similarly, works that are moderate or minor in scale are likely to 
cause less than substantial harm or no harm at all. However, even minor works have 
the potential to cause substantial harm, depending on the nature of their impact on the 
asset and its setting.” 

 
Having regard to that guidance, it is therefore important to emphasise that substantial harm is 
characterised (at least where works to a listed building is concerned) as being posed where an 
adverse impact seriously affects a key element of the significance of an asset. 
 
The Court in Bedford BC v SSCLG [2012] EWHC 4344 has also defined “substantial harm” as 
“an impact which would have such a serious impact on the significance of the asset that its 
significance was either vitiated altogether or very much reduced.” 
 
Having regard to that guidance and case law, it is therefore important to emphasise that 
substantial harm is characterised as an impact which would have such a serious impact on the 
significance of the asset that its significance was either vitiated altogether or very much 
reduced. For example, in relation to works affecting a listed building, it is important to consider 
whether the adverse impact seriously affects a key element of the significance of the asset.  
 
In any event, it bears repeating that any harm requires clear and convincing justification and 
great weight should be given to the conservation of a heritage asset (and the more important 
the asset, the greater the weight should be). 
 
The PPG also provides further advice in respect of the meaning of “significance” i.e. the value 
of a heritage asset because of its heritage interest. The NPPF definition further states that in 
the planning context heritage interest may be archaeological, architectural, artistic or historic. 
The PPG expands upon those heritage interests with guiding definitions. 
 
Guidance – Historic England 

                                       
3 Ibid. 

Page 32



 
The document Conservation Principles, Policies and Guidance for the Sustainable 
Management of the Historic Environment (2008) predates the current policy framework 
applicable to this application and a revised version remains outstanding following consultation 
in 2017 and 2018. Its aims and objectives do, however, remain extant and it is helpful to 
recognise significance as falling within four, distinct categories of value: evidential, historical, 
aesthetic, and communal4. It also defines “harm” as being:  

 
‘Change for the worse, here primarily referring to the effect of inappropriate interventions 
on the heritage values of a place.’ 

 
Since 2008, Historic England has produced a number of Good Practice Advice Notes (“GPA”), 
including: 
 

- GPA2, Managing Significance in Decision-Taking in the Historic Environment (2015); 
and 

- GPA3, The Setting of Heritage Assets (2nd Edition, 2017). 
 

GPA2 makes clear that the first step for the preparation or determination of any application 
affecting heritage is to understand the significance of any affected heritage asset and the 
contribution of its setting to its significance. It also advises that: 

 
‘Change to heritage assets is inevitable but it is only harmful when significance is damaged. 
The nature and importance of the significance that is affected will dictate the proportionate 
response to assessing that change, its justification, mitigation and any recording which may 
be needed if it is to go ahead.’ 

 
It is therefore clear that the identification of change within a heritage asset’s setting must not 
be confused with harm to that asset; thus, impact as opposed to effect. Instead, the question 
which should be asked is whether the change (the impact) would result in a diminution – or 
indeed enhancement – of its significance as a heritage asset (the effect). 
 
GPA3 is relevant because the development impacts upon the setting of a number of designated 
heritage assets; this report assesses the resultant effects of those impacts. The guidance within 
GPA3 is consistent with the NPPF and the two documents share the definition of “setting”. 
GPA3 also emphasises that “setting” is not a heritage asset, nor a heritage designation. Its 
importance lies in what it contributes to the significance of the heritage asset. It therefore 
follows that one cannot harm a setting; rather, inappropriate development might alter the 
setting of an asset such that its significance is affected. 
 

                                       
4 The four ‘values’ differ slightly from the ‘interests’ provided within the NPPF (and further defined by the PPG) but they 
are substantively similar and overlap. For the purposes of assessing significance in this case, however, the terms used in the 
NPPF are preferred. 

Page 33



For decision-taking purposes in assessing the indirect impacts and consequent effects that a 
development might pose to a heritage asset, GPA3 sets out a clear and methodical five-step 
process: 
 

- Step 1 – Identify which heritage assets and their settings are affected. 
- Step 2 – Assess the degree to which these settings make a contribution to the 

significance of the heritage asset(s) or allow significance to be appreciated. 
- Step 3 – Assess the effects of the proposed development, whether beneficial or harmful, 

on that significance or on the ability to appreciate it. 
- Step 4 – Explore ways to maximise enhancement and avoid or minimise harm. 
- Step 5 – Make and document the decision and monitor outcomes. 

 
Assessment 
 
The Applicant has submitted a number of heritage-based documents for consideration, 
principally: 
 

- Heritage Statement (Oxenham Consult, Rev B Oct 2021) 
- Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment (Context One, 2010) 
- Written Scheme of Investigation (AC archaeology, July 2021)  

 
In this case very careful attention has also been paid to the advice of Historic England (“HE”). 
As a statutory consultee great weight is given to the importance of their commentary, as 
confirmed by case law.  
 
A number of points from the letters submitted by HE should be restressed: 
 

- The Chimney is statutorily protected as a Grade II listed building. 
- In HE’s opinion the buildings are, as a minimum, non-designated heritage assets. 
- The buildings certainly reflect the activities of the previous use of the site, and the 

industrial character that they generate contributes to the setting and therefore 
significance, of the listed Chimney despite their poor condition.  

- The total loss of the buildings to create a clear site will cause harm to both heritage 
assets, through the removal of buildings that create a legible industrial context, and 
through the creation of an open undeveloped site within the historic Conservation Area.  

- Clear and convincing justification is required. 
- Whether the buildings could be repaired and reused is a reasonable consideration and 

one which we do not feel has been adequately explored within the submission.  
- HE is concerned that the application does not comply with NPPF para. 204. 
- It is strongly recommended that an application for redevelopment is considered 

alongside the current demolition proposal. 
- The application would not meet NPPF 206 because no enhancement is proposed. 
- The applicant’s Heritage Statement lacks sufficient detail and does not meet national 

policy and related guidance (e.g. NPPF 194). 
- The Council must adhere to its legal duties in determining the application. 

 
Due to the limited detail and assessment provided within the Heritage Statement, a 
precautionary stance has been adopted. It is agreed that the application fails to meet the 

Page 34



burden of evidence required by policy in that regard, and officers have exercised their own 
judgment having regard to the above policy and guidance. 
 
A summary of officers’ opinion now follows. 
 
Step 1: 
 
The subject buildings are not listed buildings and it is noteworthy that Buildings B/C are 
expressly excluded from the listing description for the Chimney despite being attached to it. It 
is also understood that in recent years the whole mill complex was considered for spot listing 
with Historic England concluding that it was only of local interest and not worthy of designation. 
Officers have also considered whether the subject buildings are “curtilage listed”. Having 
regard to relevant guidance, including HE Advice Note 10, the buildings are not considered to 
be such. Nevertheless, and as will be discussed, the subject buildings are otherwise still 
considered to be of historic interest and are treated as non-designated heritage assets. 
 
The designated heritage assets that would be affected by the development are: 
 

- The Chimney (GII) 
- The Footbridge (GII) 
- Town Mill (GII) 
- The Okehampton Conservation Area 

 
The subject buildings are within the Conservation Area and within the settings of those listed 
buildings. 
 
By virtue of the degree of separation involved, and lack of clear associative link, Simmons Park 
would not be materially affected by the development and the subject buildings are not 
considered to fall within its setting. 
 
Step 2 (including significance of the subject buildings): 
 
Officers agree with the assessment of HE that the buildings despite their poor condition reflect 
the activities of the previous use of the site, and the industrial character that they generate 
contributes to the setting and therefore significance, of the listed Chimney and other adjacent 
assets. 
 
The setting of the Footbridge is a consideration as it is suspected to have been built to serve 
the mill – probably for worker access to and from the town centre. There is a clear visual and 
associative historic link between that asset and the subject buildings/mill complex. For similar 
reasons the same is true of the adjacent Town Mill. 
 
Step 3: 
 
It is only the subject buildings that would be physically affected by the proposed development. 
The other affected assets would be impacted by virtue of change occurring within their settings. 
 
The assertion of the applicant that the removal of the subject buildings would improve the 
setting of the Chimney is strongly rejected. It is inconceivable that the loss of such buildings 
would in some way better reveal the significance of the Chimney or other adjacent listed assets 
because the subject buildings are part and parcel of the site as a whole and its legible history. 

Page 35



 
The total loss of the subject buildings A – D (and total loss of their significance as a result) to 
create a clear site will cause harm to all identified heritage assets, through the removal of 
buildings that create a legible industrial context, and through the creation of an open 
undeveloped site within the historic Conservation Area.  
 
The harm to designated heritage assets would be less than substantial and notably serious but 
would not amount to substantial harm because the effects would not be so serious that the 
significance of those assets would be either removed altogether or very much reduced. In any 
event this is a matter of considerable importance and great weight must be applied to the harm 
identified because every effort must be made to at least preserve significance. 
 
Steps 4/5: 
 
The buildings are argued to be beyond economic repair and the applicant’s arguments to that 
effect are accepted, albeit it is noted that long-term neglect will have undoubtedly contributed 
to their demise. The NPPF is clear that the deteriorated state of the heritage asset should not 
be taken into account in any decision on that basis. 
 
A Dangerous Structure Notice has been served and parts of the buildings are in imminent 
prospect of failure and collapse. Repair and reuse are not considered economically feasible. 
 
No redevelopment proposals are before the Council and a previous application for such was 
withdrawn. There is no alternative scheme available to the Council to judge against the 
proposal for demolition. The application therefore could not meet the requirements of NPPF 
204. 
 
The harm posed through demolition would be unavoidable, but it would be important to salvage 
as much historic fabric as possible alongside proper recording of the building for future 
understanding. To that end a Written Scheme of Investigation has also been submitted. 
 
The Heritage Balances 
 
Total loss to the significance of the subject buildings as non-designated heritage assets is 
posed. 
 
Less than substantial (but still notable and serious) harm is posed to the significance of the 
Chimney, Footbridge, Town Mill, and Conservation Area. ss66(1) and 72(1) of the listed 
buildings Act are actively engaged. There is a strong presumption that planning permission will 
be refused. It is a rebuttable presumption but there must be compelling countervailing 
considerations. Great weight should be given to the conservation of a designated heritage 
asset. 
 
Where less than substantial harm has been found, NPPF para. 202 requires that harm to be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. The PPG defines public benefits as: 
 

‘Public benefits may follow from many developments and could be anything that delivers 
economic, social or environmental objectives as described in the National Planning 
Policy Framework (para. 8). Public benefits should flow from the proposed development. 
They should be of a nature or scale to be of benefit to the public at large and not just be 
a private benefit. However, benefits do not always have to be visible or accessible to 
the public in order to be genuine public benefits, for example, works to a listed private 

Page 36



dwelling which secure its future as a designated heritage asset could be a public 
benefit.’5 

 
In light of the above guidance there are no public benefits associated with the development (at 
least in a pure sense, following the above guidance). There is no certain alternative for 
redevelopment before the Council and no proposal to secure the optimum viable use of the 
buildings/proposal for repair and reuse in any other form. 
 
In so far as the designated heritage assets harmed by the proposal, the application would fail 
the balance under NPPF 202 and DEV21 where great weight has been given to the 
conservation of those assets. 
 
Likewise, the more balanced judgement advocated in relation to the buildings as non-
designated assets would also fall in favour of refusing to grant planning permission in 
accordance with NPPF 203 and DEV21. 
 
The very clear direction of the development plan and the NPPF would be to refuse to grant 
planning permission. Such a decision would be consistent with the Council’s duties under the 
listed buildings Act where considerable importance and great weight has been applied to the 
principle of keeping the designated heritage assets from harm. 
 
On the other hand, and as will be considered in the overall s38(6) planning balance, the 
circumstances of the application are pressing and exceptional. The subject buildings are 
accepted to be beyond economic repair, in a parlous state of dereliction posing clear and 
present danger to pedestrians and highway safety. Urgent remedy is required, and demolition 
is proposed as the rational outcome, however regrettable. Officers find this to be an 
overwhelmingly weighty consideration in the public interest where the Council has a duty to 
safeguard the public. 
 
Therefore, whilst having paid special regard to the desire to keep designated heritage assets 
from harm, recognising that this is a matter of considerable importance and great weight such 
that planning permission would and should normally be withheld, officers would nevertheless 
support the application despite the very clear direction of local and national planning policy. 
 
Ecology: 
Policy DEV26 requires development to support the protection, conservation, enhancement and 
restoration of biodiversity and geodiversity across the Plan Area. Among other matters, harmful 
impacts on protected species must be avoided wherever possible, subject to the legal tests 
afforded to them where applicable, and unless the need for, or benefits of the development 
clearly outweigh the loss. 
 
The NPPF echoes those objectives. Paragraph 174 states that planning decisions should 
contribute to and enhance the natural environment by minimising impacts on, and providing 
net gains for, biodiversity. Paragraph 180 goes on to state that planning permission should be 
refused for developments that pose significant harm to biodiversity (in the absence of 
avoidance, mitigation, or, as a last resort, compensatory measures). 
 
ODPM Circular 06/20056, which is referenced in the NPPF at footnote 61, states at paragraph 
99: 

                                       
5 Historic Environment: Paragraph: 020 Reference ID: 18a-020-20190723 (revised July 2019). 
6 Biodiversity and Geological Conservation – Statutory Obligations and their impact within the Planning System (2005). 

Page 37



 
“It is essential that the presence or otherwise of protected species, and the extent that 
they may be affected by the proposed development, is established before the planning 
permission is granted, otherwise all relevant material considerations may not have been 
addressed in making the decision. The need to ensure ecological surveys are carried 
out should therefore only be left to coverage under planning conditions in exceptional 
circumstances, with the result that the surveys are carried out after planning permission 
has been granted. However, bearing in mind the delay and cost that may be involved, 
developers should not be required to undertake surveys for protected species unless 
there is a reasonable likelihood of the species being present and affected by the 
development. Where this is the case, the survey should be completed and any 
necessary measures to protect the species should be in place, through conditions 
and/or planning obligations, before the permission is granted. In appropriate 
circumstances the permission may also impose a condition preventing the development 
from proceeding without the prior acquisition of a licence under the procedure set out in 
section C below.” 

 
The application is accompanied by an Ecological Impact Assessment, which has been 
informed by recent habitat surveys and building inspections. 
 
The site and subject buildings are considered to provide day and night roosting opportunities 
for greater horseshoe and common pipistrelle bats. The site is also likely to provide habitat for 
nesting birds and reptiles/amphibians. A strategy to deal with the associated risks has been 
prepared accordingly and is considered to be acceptable by the Council’s ecologist. 
 
In particular, and in the absence of mitigation, the loss of bat roosts would be a major adverse 
effect at the site level and moderate adverse at the local level, especially for greater horseshoe 
bats. Demolition of the buildings will result in destruction of the bat roosts and risks killing or 
injuring bats. Such impacts cannot be avoided or mitigated. Once planning permission has 
been granted and prior to any works to the buildings, a licence will be required from Natural 
England to derogate from an offence being caused under current legislation. A compensatory 
bat roost, suitable for the species encountered on site will be provided under licence and as 
noted such a structure as currently with the Council for determination under a separate 
planning application.  
 
A planning condition is recommended on that basis to secure the replacement bat roost and 
necessary license, and it is considered that the condition can be achieved within the life of the 
permission where it is reasonably foreseeable that the “three tests” for derogation under the 
Habitats Regulations would be satisfied regarding: 
1 - The demolition is necessary for reason of overriding public interest/health and safety 
2 - There is no satisfactory alternative, and  
3 - The maintenance of the species’ favourable conservation status is provided through the 
replacement bat roost building. The consultation response from the Council’s ecologist gives 
detailed explanation as to how those tests are considered to be met. 
 
The application is therefore considered to accord with policy DEV26 and the NPPF. 
 
Flood and Water Management:  
The demolition of the subject buildings is unlikely to materially affect the drainage 
characteristics of the site, and on that basis would not increase risk of flood risk elsewhere. 
 

Page 38



However, as observed by the Environment Agency the application documents are absent any 
detail or methodology for how the leat will be safeguarded during the works. This is a matter 
than can be secured by condition before development commences, as recommended by that 
statutory body. 
 
It is considered that the application accords with policy DEV35. 
 
The s38(6) Planning Balance: 
In undertaking the planning balance officers have embraced their statutory duties under the 
listed buildings Act. There is a strong presumption against granting planning permission for 
development that would harm a listed building or conservation area. This is a matter of 
considerable importance and weight. 
 
In this case, total loss to significance of non-designated heritage assets is posed, with the 
consequential effect of less than substantial – but otherwise notable and serious – harm to 
listed buildings (Chimney, Footbridge, and Town Mill) and the Okehampton Conservation Area. 
 
The application accords with the development plan regarding ecological and flood/water 
management matters. However, there is a fundamental conflict with policy DEV21 on account 
of the heritage harms identified. No other material issues arise. 
 
On account of the policy conflict identified the application does not accord with the development 
plan as a whole. The direction of the development plan is to refuse planning permission. 
 
Due to the unresolved adverse heritage effects posed by the demolition of the subject buildings, 
the direction of the NPPF would also be to refuse to grant planning permission, notwithstanding 
that the application is satisfactory in other respects. 
 
On the other hand, the circumstances of the application are pressing and exceptional. The 
subject buildings are beyond economic repair, in a parlous state of dereliction posing clear and 
present danger to pedestrians and highway safety. The situation can only deteriorate further 
at increased risk. Urgent remedy is required, and demolition is the rational outcome, however 
regrettable that may be. Officers find this to be an overwhelmingly weighty consideration in the 
public interest where the Council has a duty to safeguard the public. 
 
In light of the above analysis the proposal is considered acceptable where material 
considerations decisively indicate that planning permission should be approved contrary to the 
direction of the plan. Therefore, subject to the imposition of planning conditions, officers 
recommend the application for Conditional Approval. 
 
This application has been considered in accordance with Section 38 of the Planning & 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and with Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

Planning Policy 
Relevant policy framework 
Section 70 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act requires that regard be had to the 
development plan, any local finance and any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of 
the 2004 Planning and Compensation Act requires that applications are to be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. For 
the purposes of decision making, as of March 26th 2019, the Plymouth & South West Devon 
Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 is now part of the development plan for Plymouth City Council, 

Page 39



South Hams District Council and West Devon Borough Council (other than parts of South Hams 
and West Devon within Dartmoor National Park). 
 
The most important development plan policies are set out below: 
 
The Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan was adopted by South Hams 
District Council on March 21st 2019 and West Devon Borough Council on March 26th 
2019. 
 
SPT1 Delivering sustainable development 
DEV1 Protecting health and amenity 
DEV2 Air, water, soil, noise, land and light 
DEV21 Development affecting the historic environment 
DEV26 Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geological conservation 
DEV29 Specific provisions relating to transport 
DEV35 Managing flood risk and water quality impacts 
 
Other material considerations include the JLP SPD, the policies of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and guidance contained in the online national Planning Practice Guidance 
(PPG).  
 
As set out above, the development does not comply with the policies of the NPPF when 
considered as a whole. That consideration reinforces the direction of the development plan to 
refuse to grant planning permission. 
 
However, for those reasons set out the circumstances of the application are exceptional and 
there are held to be powerful countervailing considerations which indicate that the direction of 
the plan should not be followed in this case and that planning permission should be granted. 
 
Considerations under Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010 
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010 have been taken into 
account in reaching the recommendation contained in this report. 
 
Conditions 

1.  The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.  

Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990 as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  

2.  The development hereby approved shall in all respects accord strictly with drawings and 
documents:  

Site Location Plan 662-01 

Site Demolition Works Plan 662-10 

Construction Management Phase Plan (FSD, 23.07.21) 

Pre-Construction Information (Oxenham Consult, Rev A Jan 2022) Heritage Statement 
(Oxenham Consult, Rev B Oct 2021) 

Page 40



Reason: To ensure that the proposed development is carried out in accordance with the 
drawings forming part of the application to which this approval relates.  

3.  The works shall be carried out in strict accordance with the programme of archaeological 
work and historic building recording set out within the Written Scheme of Investigation – 
Historic Building Recording and Archaeological Watching Brief (AC archaeology, July 2021).  

Reason: To ensure, in accordance with Policy DEV21 in the Plymouth and South West 
Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 and the NPPF, that an appropriate record is made of 
industrial archaeological evidence that may be affected by the development.  

4.  The development hereby permitted shall be implemented strictly in accordance with all 
recommendations and requirements stated in the Ecological Impact Assessment (Lakeside 
Ecological Consultancy, 10th October 2021), subject to any variation required by Natural 
England under any license it may issue. The planning condition shall be discharged when the 
consultant ecologist confirms in writing to the Authority that the recommendations have been 
fully implemented.  

Reason: In the interests of safeguarding protected/priority species, in accordance with policy 
DEV26 and the NPPF.  

5.  No works to shall commence until the LPA has been provided with a copy of the license 
for Bats issued by Natural England pursuant to Regulation 55 of The Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) authorising the works to go ahead, or 
confirmation in writing from Natural England that such a license is not required.  

Reason: To meet the Council's statutory duties and in the interests of safeguarding 
protected/priority species, in accordance with policy DEV26 and the NPPF.  

6.  No works shall commence until a permanent bat roosting structure has been provided 
within the site to compensate for the loss of bat roosting opportunities caused by the works, 
in accordance either with application 3815/21/FUL or alternative in accordance with details 
previously submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  

Reason: In the interests of safeguarding protected/priority species, in accordance with policy 
DEV26 and the NPPF.  

7.  No works shall commence until details demonstrating how the on-site leat will be 
safeguarded during the works, including measures to ensure the free passage of water, have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  

Reason: So that flood risk is not increased to third parties and to prevent flooding elsewhere 
in accordance with policy DEV35 and the NPPF.  

8.  Within two weeks of works commencing on site a strategy shall be provided for the written 
approval of the Local Planning Authority, detailing how stone from the buildings to be 
demolished will be cleaned and salvaged for future use. No material arising from the 
demolition shall be removed from the site until such a time as the strategy is approved. The 
demolition works shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with the approved strategy.  

Reason: In the interests of sustainability and to make available fabric of historic interest and 
local distinctiveness to be used in future development.  

Page 41



9.  No external lighting shall be used during the works unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority, following the submission of details demonstrating how impacts 
on bats would be minimised, such details having been prepared in accordance with best 
practice guidance detailed in Guidance Note 08/18 - Bats and Artificial Lighting in the UK 
(BCT, ILP, 2018).  

Reason: In the interests of safeguarding protected/priority species, in accordance with policy 
DEV26 and the NPPF.  

10.  If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at 
the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority) shall be carried out until the developer has submitted, and obtained 
written approval from the Local Planning Authority for, an investigation and risk assessment 
and, where necessary, a remediation strategy and verification plan detailing how this 
unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with.  

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation strategy and 
verification plan and prior to occupation of any part of the permitted development, a 
verification report demonstrating completion of the works set out in the approved remediation 
strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to and approved, in 
writing, by the local planning authority.  

Reason: No site investigation can completely characterise a site. This condition is required to 
ensure that any unexpected contamination that is uncovered during remediation or other site 
works is dealt with appropriately.  

 

Page 42



 West Devon Borough Council 
 

 PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 19-Apr-22 
 Appeals Update from 1-Mar-22 to 28-Mar-22 
 
 Ward Bridestowe 
 APPLICATION NUMBER: 2748/21/FUL APP/Q1153/W/21/3288612 
 APPELLANT NAME: Dr & Mrs S Chaplin 
 PROPOSAL: Conversion of holiday barn to permanent residential use 
 LOCATION:   West Raddon Lewdown   EX20 4PS Officer member delegated 
 APPEAL STATUS: Appeal Lodged 
 APPEAL START DATE: 15-March-2022 
  
 APPEAL DECISION: 
  
 APPEAL DECISION DATE: 
 

 Ward Exbourne 
 APPLICATION NUMBER: 3452/21/PDM APP/Q1153/W/21/3286610 
 APPELLANT NAME: Mr A Thompson 
 PROPOSAL: Application to determine if prior approval is required for a 
          proposed change of use of agricultural building to 1 no. dwellinghouse(Class C3) 
 LOCATION: Higher Narracott   Exbourne   EX20 3QX Officer delegated 
 APPEAL STATUS: Appeal Lodged 
 APPEAL START DATE: 16-March-2022 
  
 APPEAL DECISION: 
  
 APPEAL DECISION DATE: 
 

 Ward Hatherleigh 
 APPLICATION NUMBER: 3143/21/FUL APP/Q1153/W/21/3288683 
 APPELLANT NAME: Mr and Mrs Barry Mills 
 PROPOSAL: Conversion of barn to dwelling (Resubmission of 0179/21/FUL) 
 LOCATION: Lower Lewer  Hatherleigh    EX20 3LF Officer member delegated 
 APPEAL STATUS: Appeal Lodged 
 APPEAL START DATE: 15-March-2022 
  
 APPEAL DECISION: 
  
 APPEAL DECISION DATE: 
 

 Ward Milton Ford 
 APPLICATION NUMBER: 1133/20/FUL APP/Q1153/W/21/3287581 
 APPELLANT NAME: Mr M Bassett 
 PROPOSAL: Erection of garage or storage building 
 LOCATION: 1 Summer Green  Lamerton    PL19 8FJ Officer delegated 
 APPEAL STATUS: Appeal Lodged 
 APPEAL START DATE: 14-March-2022 
  
 APPEAL DECISION: 
  
 APPEAL DECISION DATE: 
 APPLICATION NUMBER: 4550/21/CLE APP/Q1153/X/22/3294429 
 APPELLANT NAME: Mr and Mrs G and D McClaughlin 
 PROPOSAL: Certificate of Lawfulness for existing residential dwelling 
           (Resubmission of 3569/21/CLE) 
 LOCATION: Blackthorn Stables   Haye Down    Officer delegated 
 APPEAL STATUS: Appeal Lodged 
 APPEAL START DATE: 15-March-2022 
  
 APPEAL DECISION: 
  
 APPEAL DECISION DATE: 
 

 Ward Okehampton North 
 APPLICATION NUMBER: 1057/21/HHO APP/Q1153/D/21/3277980 
 APPELLANT NAME: Mr Mark Betambeau 
 PROPOSAL: Householder application for alterations and extension to provide new 
  master bedroom (Option A) 
 LOCATION:                8 Kellands Lane Okehampton   EX20 1FQ Officer member delegated 
 APPEAL STATUS: Appeal Lodged 

Page 43

Agenda Item 6



 APPEAL START DATE: 22-March-2022 
  
 APPEAL DECISION: 
  
 APPEAL DECISION DATE: 
 APPLICATION NUMBER: 1059/21/HHO APP/Q1153/D/21/3277984 

 
 APPELLANT NAME:  Mr Mark Betambeau 
 PROPOSAL: Householder application for alterations and extension to provide new 
  master bedroom (option B) 
 LOCATION:                8 Kellands Lane Okehampton   EX20 1FQ Officer member delegated 
 APPEAL STATUS: Appeal Lodged 
 APPEAL START DATE: 22-March-2022 
  
 APPEAL DECISION: 
  
 APPEAL DECISION DATE: 
 APPLICATION NUMBER: 4117/20/HHO APP/Q1153/D/21/3277973 
 APPELLANT NAME: Mr Mark Beambeau 
 PROPOSAL: Householder application for alteration and extension to provide 
       master bedroom above garage 
 LOCATION:                8 Kellands Lane Okehampton   EX20 1FQ Officer member delegated 
 APPEAL STATUS: Appeal Lodged 
 APPEAL START DATE: 23-March-2022 
  
 APPEAL DECISION: 
  
 APPEAL DECISION DATE: 
 

 Ward Tavistock South East 
 APPLICATION NUMBER: 2656/21/TEX APP/TPO/Q1153/8745 
 APPELLANT NAME: Jacky Bonney 
 PROPOSAL: T1: Douglas Fir - Fell due to damage to roots and risk of collapse 
 LOCATION: Finni Gilli  St Johns Tavistock   PL19 9RF Officer delegated 
 APPEAL STATUS: Appeal Lodged 
 APPEAL START DATE: 20-March-2022 
  
 APPEAL DECISION: 
  
 APPEAL DECISION DATE: 
 

Page 44



 

 
 1 

West Devon Planning  10 
 

 Undetermined Major applications as at 28-Mar-22 
 
 Valid Date Target Date EoT Date 
 2915/19/FUL Jacqueline Houslander 18-Dec-19 18-Mar-20 31-Mar-20 
 
 Wool Grading Centre  Fore Street North Tawton    READVERTISEMENT (Revised plans received) Conversion of 

existing Grade II listed mill buildings (A and B) into 7 open market  
townhouses, conversion of building C into 9 open market flats         
redevelopment of building D for B1 office use, 4 open market 
dwellings in G and L and building F restored 

Comment: Agent submitted further information. Meeting held, EoT agreed and further information awaited. Likely to require a 
further EOT. 
 
 Valid Date Target Date EoT Date 
 2536/20/OPA Cheryl Stansbury 20-Oct-20 19-Jan-21 31-Jan-22 
 
 Land south of Fore Street  Fore Street Lifton   PL16 0BT Outline application for up to 68 dwellings with POS, landscaping  
 and sustainable drainage system, with vehicular access through the        
 approved access for the adjacent development (2353/18/OPA) -  
 all matters reserved except access 
Comments: S106 being worked on. With agent to address Biodiversity Net Gain 
 
 Valid Date Target Date EoT Date 
 3652/20/FUL Bryn Kitching 18-Nov-20 17-Feb-21 21-Dec-21 
 
 Land to the South of Plymouth Road  Tavistock     READVERTISEMENT (Revised plans received and amended  
 development description) Hybrid application comprising full planning  
 application for erection of 44 residential dwellings, formation of
 accesses, associated public open space, landscaping and  
  infrastructure; and outline planning application for extra care facility  
  for up to 60 units with all matters reserved, except means of access 
Comments:  Committee resolution to approve subject to completion of S106 Agreement.   
 
 Valid Date Target Date EoT Date 
 3441/21/OPA Oliver Mathers 7-Sep-21 7-Dec-21 28-Feb-22 
 
 Astra Salvage Yard  Patchacott Beaworthy   EX21 5AW Outline application with all matters reserved for development  
 17no holiday chalets and 1no reception building with associated car  
 Parking and amenities 
Comments: Recommending APPROVAl. Draft report with ward members requesting delegation 
 
 Valid Date Target Date EoT Date 
 4113/21/OPA Catherine Miller-Bassi 16-Nov-21 15-Feb-22  
 
 Rondor And Gunns Yard  North Street Okehampton    Outline application with some matters reserved for the  
 development of 19 No. dwellings with new private access road,  
 parking and external  works 
Comments: 
 
 Valid Date Target Date EoT Date 
 3911/21/ARM Catherine Miller-Bassi 25-Nov-21 24-Feb-22 31-Mar-22 
 
 Land at SX 573 976   Folly Gate    Application for approval of reserved matters seeking approval for 
 appearance, landscaping, layout and scale, following outline  
 approval 3963/19/OPA in accordance
 with(APP/Q1153/W/20/3257118) 
Comment: New application within initial consultation period 
 Valid Date Target Date EoT Date 
 0107/22/OPA Catherine Miller-Bassi 13-Jan-22 14-Apr-22  
 
 Land north of  Green Hill Lamerton    Outline application with some matters reserved for residential 
        development of 21 dwellings with access road, parking,  
 services and   external works 
 Valid Date Target Date EoT Date 
 0159/22/VAR Darren Henry 18-Jan-22 19-Apr-22  
 
 Development Site At Sx 383 851  off Fore Street Lifton    Application for variation of conditions 7 (approved drawings) and  
 9 (light modelling re Ecology) of planning application 2353/18/OPA 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



 

 
 1 

Comment: 
 
 Valid Date Target Date EoT Date 
 0392/22/ARM Darren Henry 4-Feb-22 6-May-22  
 
 Development Site At Sx 382 850  Fore Street Lifton    Application for approval of reserved matters seeking approval for      
 layout and appearance for part of the internal access road  
 connecting from the approved access onto Fore Street following  
 outline approval  2353/18/OPA 
Comments: New application within consultation period. 
 
 
 Valid Date Target Date EoT Date 
 
 0395/22/FUL Oliver Mathers 1-Mar-22 31-May-22  
 
 Okehampton Skills And Sports Trust  Higher Stockley  Extension of first floor industrial units over approved car parking    
 Mead Okehampton   EX20 1FJ area 
 
Comment 
 

Page 46


	Agenda
	4 Confirmation of Minutes
	5a 1887/21/FUL
	5b 2927/21/FUL
	5c 1861/21/CAC
	6 Planning Appeals Update
	7 Update on Undetermined Major Applications

